A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Kebede Abawaji asks this Court to accept review of the Court of 

Appeals decision terminating review designated in part B of this 

petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Pursuant to RAP 13 .4(b ), petitioner seeks review of the 

unpublished Court of Appeals decision in State v. Kebede Abawaji, No. 

74256-6-I (March 6, 2017). A copy of the decision is in the Appendix. 

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Two or more offenses must be joined if they are related 

offenses, unless the prosecutor did not possess sufficient evidence to 

warrant trying them together, or the "ends of justice" would be 

defeated. Arising out of a single incident, Mr. Abawaji was charged 

with assault and unlawful display of a weapon in municipal court, but 

the charges were dismissed when the victim failed to appear at trial. 

Mr. Abawaji was subsequently charged with felony harassment for 

remarks he made during the assault and the prosecution was aware of 

these remarks. Is an issue of substantial public interest that this Court 

must decide where the trial court erred in failing to dismiss the 
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harassment count for a violation of mandatory joinder requiring 

dismissal of that count? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Tigist Belte and Kebede Abawaji were married in their native 

country of Ethiopia on October 25, 1999. 9/30/2015RP 497. The couple 

immigrated to Washington in 2003. 9/30/2015RP 497. The couple had 

five children, aged five to sixteen years. 9/30/20 15RP 496. The 

relationship suffered from the struggle of meshing traditional mores 

with modern American society, including the role of women. 

In 2011, the couple separated but Mr. Abawaji continued to 

frequent the family's residence. 9/30/2015RP 502. On November 1, 

2014, Ms. Belte and Mr. Abawaji became embroiled in an argument, 

which resulted in Ms. Belte claiming Mr. Abawaji threatened to kill 

her. 9/30/2015RP 519. Mr. Abawaji was charged in Seattle Municipal 

Court with one count of fourth degree assault and one count of 

unlawful use of a weapon. CP 25; 37. The matter was scheduled for a 

jury trial on January 20,2015, but Ms. Belte did not appear. CP 26, 37. 

As a result, the following day the case was dismissed with prejudice. 

CP 26, 37. 
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Mr. Abawaji and Ms. Belte divorced in February 2015. 

9/30/2015RP 529. Mr. Abawaji believed that Ms. Belte had become 

involved with another man, and he believed that in Oromo culture, his 

life was now in danger. 10/5/2015pmRP 38. 1 On April1, 2015, Mr. 

Abawaji went to confront Ms. Belte regarding his suspicions. 

10/5/2015pmRP 67. What occurred next was sharply contested. 

Ms. Belte testified that she had returned home but had forgotten 

her purse in the car. 9/30/2015RP 541. As she approached the car, she 

felt something behind her and turned. 9/30/20 15RP 541-42. Ms. Belte 

saw Mr. Abawaji and she claimed he struck her on the right side of the 

forehead with a hammer. 9/30/2015RP 542. She subsequently regained 

consciousness in the hospital. 9/30/2015RP 543. 

Mr. Abawaji agreed that he went to confront Ms. Belte. 

10/5/2015pmRP 67. Ms. Belte approached Mr. Abawaji and grabbed 

him. 10/5/2015pmRP 79. He pushed her away, she stumbled, then fell 

to the ground with Mr. Abawaji on top of her. 10/5/20 15RP 82. Mr. 

Abawaji saw Ms. Belte bleeding and called 911. 10/5/2015pmRP 82-

1 Mr. Abawaji explained that in the Oromo culture, if a married woman 
begins a relationship with another man, the lover may try to kill the husband. 
I 0/5/20 15amRP 61. 
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85. When the police arrived, Mr. Abawaji was arrested. 

10/5/2015pmRP 90. 

Mr. Abawaji was charged with attempted first degree murder, 

first degree assault, and felony harassment. CP 11-12. Prior to trial, Mr. 

Abawaji moved to dismiss the felony harassment count as a violation of 

mandatory joinder under CrR 4.3.1. CP 37-39; 9/23/2015RP 29; 

9/24/20 15RP 131. The trial court refused to dismiss the count: 

I do note, though, that the fact that they are dealing with 
Municipal Court versus District Court, we are dealing 
with two separate prosecuting agencies, does mitigate in 
favor of denial of the motion. But my primary reason for 
denying the motion is based on Criminal Rule 4. 3.1 (b) (3) 
where it says that if the motion can be denied for some 
other reason, the ends ofjustice would be defeated. 

And one concern that I have is that even though the 
proceedings that took place in Municipal Court may fall 
in the definition of "trial" as discussed in State v. Dixon, 
nevertheless, he had not really been tried. There has not 
been a result in connection with the accusation that there 
was harassment. Of course, harassment was not part of 
the charges in Municipal Court. 

Second, I am concerned, very concerned about the 
possibility that this issue could never reach trial because 
of pressure being placed on the alleged victim. That's of 
great concern to me. 

For those reasons, I'm denying the motion to dismiss the 
harassment charge. 

9/24/2015RP 151-52 (emphasis added). 
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Following a jury trial, Mr. Abawaji was convicted ofthe lesser 

degree offense of attempted second degree murder. CP 238. The jury 

also found Mr. Abawaji guilty of first degree assault and felony 

harassment. CP 239, 241. At sentencing, the court vacated the assault 

count as violative of double jeopardy. CP 299; 11/6/RP 2015RP 152. 

On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Abawaji's 

harassment conviction over his mandatory joinder argument, finding 

that the municipal court had sole jurisdiction over the harassment 

count. Decision at 6. 

E. ARGUMENT ON WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

The conviction for felony harassment violated 
mandatory joinder should have been dismissed. 

Generally, the mandatory joinder rule requires the State to 

charge all related offenses in a single information. If the State fails to 

timely charge a related offense, the mandatory joinder rule precludes it 

from later charging that defendant with the related offense arising out 

of the same conduct "unless the court determines that ... the ends of 

justice would be defeated if the motion [to dismiss for failure to join a 

related offense] were granted." CrR 4.3.1 (b)(3). 2 

2 CrR 4.3 .1 (b), provides in part: 
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State v. Gamble, 137 Wn.App. 892, 902, 155 P.3d 962 (2007), aff'd, 

168 Wn.2d 161, 225 P.3d 973 (2010). 

The mandatory joinder rule is founded on Article I, Section 22 

of the Washington State Constitution, which provides: "In criminal 

prosecutions the accused shall have the right ... to demand the nature 

and cause of the accusation against him .... "Under this provision, "an 

accused must be informed of the charge he or she is to meet at trial, and 

cannot be tried for an offense not charged." State v. Pelkey, 109 Wn.2d 

484, 487, 745 P.2d 854 (1987), citing State v. Carr, 97 Wn.2d 436, 

439,645 P.2d 1098 (1982); State v. Rhinehart, 92 Wn.2d 923,602 P.2d 

(1) Two or more offenses are related offenses, for purposes of this 
rule, if they are within the jurisdiction and venue of the same court 
and are based on the same conduct. 
(2) When a defendant has been charged with two or more related 
offenses, the timely motion to consolidate them for trial should be 
granted unless the court determines that because the prosecuting 
attorney does not have sufficient evidence to warrant trying some of 
the offenses at that time, or for some other reason, the ends of 
justice would be defeated if the motion were granted. A defendant's 
failure to so move constitutes a waiver of any right of consolidation 
as to related offenses with which the defendant knew he or she was 
charged. 
(3) A defendant who has been tried for one offense may thereafter 
move to dismiss a charge for a related offense, unless a motion for 
consolidation of these offenses was previously denied or the right of 
consolidation was waived as provided in this rule. The motion to 
dismiss must be made prior to the second trial, and shall be granted 
unless the court determines that because the prosecuting attorney 
was unaware of the facts constituting the related offense or did not 
have sufficient evidence to warrant trying this offense at the time of 
the first trial, or for some other reason, the ends of justice would be 
defeated if the motion were granted. 
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1188 (1979). "Mandatory joinder is required for related offenses to 

ensure "a single disposition of all charges arising from one incident." 

State v. Harris, 130 Wn.2d 35,921 P.2d 1052 (1996). 

The remedy for a violation of the when the mandatory joinder 

rule is dismissal of the additional charges with prejudice. CrR 

4.3.l(b)(1); State v. Dallas, 126 Wn.2d 324, 329, 892 P.2d 1082, 1086 

(1995). The trial court's application of the mandatory joinder rule is 

reviewed de novo. State v. Kindsvogel, 149 Wn.2d 477, 480, 69 P.3d 

870 (2003); State v. Kenyon, 150 Wn.App. 826, 833, 208 P.3d 1291 

(2009). 

Offenses are related where they are based on the same conduct. 

State v. Lee, 132 Wn.2d 498, 501, 939 P.2d 1223 (1997). "Same 

conduct" is "conduct involving a single criminal incident or episode." 

!d., at 503. 

Here all the charges arose of one single incident that occurred 

on November 1, 2014. During this incident, Ms. Belte alleged that Mr. 

Abawaji threatened to kill her after he choked her and threatened her 

with a knife. 9/30/2015RP 508-523. This was a single episode; a 

domestic violence incident occurring in the home between Ms. Belte 

and Mr. Abawaji. At that time, the State had all the facts it needed to 
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charge assault, harassment, and unlawful display of a weapon, but 

chose not to charge the harassment, despite the requirements of 

mandatory joinder. The trial court erred in failing to dismiss the 

harassment count here. 

Two or more offenses are related offenses, for purposes of this 

rule, if they are within the jurisdiction and venue of the same court and 

are based on the same conduct." CrR 4.3 .1 (b)( 1 ). Offenses that are 

related must be charged together or they will be subject to dismissal 

under CrR 4.3.1(b)(3). Under that rule, a trial court must grant a motion 

to dismiss made before the second trial unless the State proves that (1) 

the prosecuting attorney did not previously file the charge because it 

was unaware of facts constituting the related offense or did not have 

sufficient evidence to try the offense, or (2) the ends of justice would 

be defeated if the motion were granted. Kenyon, 150 Wn.App. at 831. 

The trial court was concerned that the offenses were not related 

offenses because they were not prosecuted in the same jurisdiction, 

noting the assault and unlawful display of a weapon were filed in 

municipal court and the felony harassment was filed in superior court. 

9/24/2015RP 151. 
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The Court of Appeals incorrectly agreed with the trial court, 

dismissing the decision in State v. Dixon, 42 Wn.App. 315, 711 P.2d 

1046 ( 1985), thus misreading the holding in that case. In Dixon, the 

State prosecuted Mr. Dixon in Seattle District Court on a misdemeanor 

charge of aiming or discharging a firearm. That charge was 

subsequently dismissed because the State had not subpoenaed a critical 

witness. 42 Wn.App. at 316. The State subsequently charged Mr. 

Dixon in superior court with being a felon in possession of a firearm. 

!d. The trial court denied Mr. Dixon's motion to dismiss for a violation 

of mandatory joinder, and he was subsequently convicted. !d. This 

Court reversed the conviction, finding the trial court erred in denying 

the motion to dismiss. !d. at 319. The Court noted that both offenses are 

within the jurisdiction and venue of King County Superior Court and 

are based on the defendant's conduct with a pistol on the evening of 

December 1, 1983. Dixon, 42 Wn.App. at 317. 

Plainly the decision in Dixon ends the discussion that municipal 

court and superior court cannot be the same jurisdiction. Harassment is 

an offense that could be adjudicated in either a courts of limited 

jurisdiction or superior court. Harassment only becomes a felony in the 

exclusive jurisdiction of the superior court where the State seeks to 
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prove the threat was a threat to kill. RCW 9A.46.020(1)-(3). As a 

consequence, misdemeanor harassment was available to the prosecutor 

in the municipal court action but chose not to file and prosecute it. 

Under the rationale of Dixon, the trial court erred in refusing to dismiss 

because the Superior Court had jurisdiction and venue over the 

harassment count as noted by Dixon. 

In addition, the decision in Dixon also dismisses the trial court's 

conclusion that Mr. Abawaji had "not really been tried[that there had] 

not been a result in connection with the accusation that there was 

harassment. " 9/24/20 15RP 151. As Dixon concluded, Ms. Belte did 

not appear and Mr. Abawaji was present and ready to defend himself, 

thus implicitly, the State failed to prove the elements of the offenses. 

Dixon, 42 Wn.App. at 318-19. 

This Court should grant review to determine whether the fact 

the harassment count could properly be charged in municipal or 

superior court rendered the conviction for harassment a violation of 

mandatory joinder. 
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F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, Mr. Abawaji asks this Court to grant 

review and reverse his harassment conviction.