FILED LPR 17 2017 WASHINGTON STATE EUPREME COURT

Mar 24, 2017 Court of Appeals Division 1 State of Washington

SUPREME COURT NO. _____ COURT OF APPEALS NO. 74256-6-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

KEBEDE ABAWAJI,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> IAN ITH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497 6

FILED

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The relevant facts are set forth in the briefing before the

Court of Appeals.

D. ARGUMENT

THE COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW.

The Court should deny Abawaji's petition for review because his argument does not qualify for review under RAP 13.4. The State submits this brief answer to point out that Abawaji has recast his argument in his petition for review in a way that creates a new issue that was not argued or presented to the court of appeals.

In Abawaji's opening brief to the court of appeals, he argued that his felony harassment charge in King County Superior Court violated mandatory joinder under CrR 4.3.1 because he was previously charged with city-ordinance misdemeanors in Seattle Municipal Court arising from the same incident. Brief of Appellant

1703-18 Abawaji SupCt

(BOA) 5-12. In making that argument, he incorrectly asserted that at the time the charges were filed in municipal court, "*the State* had all the facts it needed to charge assault, harassment, and unlawful display of a weapon, but chose not to charge the harassment, despite the requirement of mandatory joinder." <u>Id.</u> at 8 (emphasis added). Abawaji contended that mandatory joinder was violated because "the State" had charged him both in the municipal and superior courts. <u>Id.</u> His argument was entirely dependent on the assertion that municipal court and superior court are "the same jurisdiction." <u>Id.</u> at 11.

The State responded that the State was not the prosecutor in Seattle Municipal Court, and Abawaji was plainly confusing and conflating the distinct prosecuting authorities and separate jurisdictions of city municipal courts and state superior courts. Brief of Respondent 4-9. The State also noted that Abawaji had misread <u>State v. Dixon</u>,¹ and was confusing Seattle *District* Court, a state court, with Seattle Municipal Court, a city court. *Abawaji did not file a reply brief.*

The court of appeals affirmed Abawaji's conviction, agreeing with the State that "the charges at issue in this case are not related

¹ 42 Wn. App. 315, 711 P.2d 1046 (1985).

because Seattle Municipal Court and King County Superior Court do not share the same jurisdiction." <u>Abawaji</u>, No. 74256-6-I at 5. The court of appeals emphasized that municipal courts handle violations of city ordinances, not state criminal statutes. <u>Id.</u> at 6 (citing RCW 3.5.020).

In Abawaji's petition for review to this Court, he repeats the incorrect assertion that <u>Dixon</u> "ends the discussion that municipal court and superior court cannot be the same jurisdiction." Petition for Review at 9. But he has reframed his argument to assert that distinct jurisdictions and separate prosecuting authorities are, or should be, irrelevant. That is an entirely new argument that was not made at the court of appeals.

Abawaji now contends, for the first time, that because "[h]arassment is an offense that could be adjudicated in either a courts [sic] of limited jurisdiction or superior court," and "misdemeanor harassment was available to the prosecutor in the municipal court action but chose not to file and prosecute it," then the State was precluded from filing a state felony harassment charge in superior court. <u>Id.</u> at 9-10. Thus, he asks this Court to grant review to answer an entirely new (and fallacious) question: "whether the fact the harassment count could properly be charged

- 3 -

1703-18 Abawaji SupCt

in municipal or superior court rendered the conviction for harassment a violation of mandatory joinder." <u>Id.</u> at 10. In other words, he is now arguing for the first time that jurisdiction and prosecutorial authority do not matter for mandatory joinder, but only whether charges with the same name could be prosecuted in each court.

This Court should deny review of this new issue. First, it is based on the entirely false "fact" that a "harassment count" can be interchangeably filed in a state superior court or a city municipal court. While the titles of the offenses might be the same, the offenses themselves are different. As the court of appeals pointed out in its decision here, the municipal court's jurisdiction is limited to city-code misdemeanors. That means a "harassment count" there would be prosecuted as a violation of Seattle Municipal Code (SMC) 12A.06.040. In superior court, a "harassment count" would be prosecuted as a violation of RCW 9A.46.020. Those are not the same offenses, and they are not interchangeable from one court to the other. The "fact" that Abawaji presents as the basis for review is false.

Secondly, "[a]n issue not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals will not be considered by this court." <u>State v. Halstien</u>, 122

1703-18 Abawaji SupCt

Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993); see also Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co, 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998) ("This court does not generally consider issues raised for the first time in a petition for review."). Abawaji could have raised this issue at the court of appeals in a reply brief after the State correctly pointed out that Abawaji's opening arguments were premised upon basic misunderstandings of our courts and a misreading of <u>Dixon</u>. That would have given the court of appeals the opportunity to address this new contention in its opinion. But Abawaji did not do so. This Court should reject his attempt to raise a new issue for the first time in his petition for review. This Court should deny his petition.

E. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny Abawaji's petition.